# AGE UK RESEARCH



# Contents

Foreword2
Executive summary
Introduction
'Normal' brain ageing6
Mild cognitive impairment9
Dementia9
Cognitive reserve
Types of dementia11
Alzheimer's disease11
Vascular dementia12
Tests and diagnosis of dementia13
Prevalence14
Diagnosed Dementia15
Causes, risk and protective factors16
Genetic causes and associations for Alzheimer's16
Genes for other types of dementia17
Other risk factors
Age18
Modifiable risk factors19
Interventions for cognitive decline and dementia23
Preventative interventions23
Post-diagnostic interventions24
Drug treatments25
Cognitive interventions
Physical exercise27
Other cognitively-stimulating activities27
Improving living environments
Living with dementia or cognitive decline
Conclusion

# Foreword

For over a decade, Age UK has supported a unique, ground-breaking research project called <u>The Disconnected Mind</u>, based at Edinburgh University. It has contributed greatly to our knowledge about how our thinking skills change with age and what we can do to protect our cognitive health in later life. As well as funding, we have worked with the researchers to summarise, interpret and translate their findings. A specific report is due to be published in the next few months, however this experience has left us well-placed to speak authoritatively not only about cognitive ageing but also about dementia.

We feel that this is a good time for everyone in Age UK to catch up with the messages from the latest research on what dementia is, what it is not, and what can be done about it.

We based this evidence review on the premise that people working for Age UK will need to have clarity on the basic concepts of dementia and cognitive ageing, either in their work or personally - or both. Even in private life, we all have nearly a 50/50 chance of knowing someone with dementia, yet individually two thirds of us will never get dementia.

Dementia diseases primarily affect our brains, and the brain has been called 'the most complex object in the universe'. Although science has unearthed an astounding amount of information, many important and basic questions remain unanswered. Sometimes, however, the problem is not that there is too little information, but too much. A lot of what you may read in the newspapers and online is incomplete or simply misleading, which is rarely helpful, either professionally to Age UK or on a personal level. We have aimed here to address some issues in order to offer a clearer picture of what dementia is and is not. Our specific aims are to use our expertise and experience to:

- clarify terms and concepts
- filter out unreliable evidence
- update you on the best and most recent brain research
- save you time and effort trawling through the literature
- offer a current picture of what is generally accepted and can be trusted on cognitive decline & dementia

Su Ray and Susan Davidson

# Executive summary

This evidence review contains what Age UK Research knows and can trust on the topics of dementia and cognitive decline.

We aim to clarify these concepts and show how they differ and how they are connected. It presents in plain English complex information on how the brain changes over time, how it can age healthily and how it is affected by disease. And it outlines what is currently known about what can happen to our brains as we age, and about what may help us to cope with these changes – for ourselves as individuals, as carers and as members of society.

The main findings of our review of the evidence and our involvement in the Disconnected Mind are:

## Dementia, mild cognitive impairment and normal ageing

- Dementia and cognitive impairment are not a part of normal brain ageing; they are diagnosable conditions.
- Normal brain ageing results in an average decline in some cognitive functions (speed of thinking, working memory) across the population whereas other functions (e.g. verbal ability) are maintained.
- Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) affects between 5 and 20 per cent of the population aged 65 or over. It affects cognitive function to a greater extent than would be expected, but not to such extent that it precludes independent living
- Some cases of MCI are treatable. Some cases (one in six) progress to dementia within a year.
- Dementia encompasses different types of disease, which cause different types of damage to the brain. Dementia is as yet untreatable.
- The most common type of dementia is Alzheimer's disease, which occurs in 50 to 75 per cent of cases, the next most common is Vascular Dementia at approximately 20 to 30 per cent.

## Prevalence

- The most recent estimates of diagnosed and undiagnosed rates find that the prevalence of late onset dementia is 7.1 per cent among people of 65 or over.
- Prevalence in the population increases with age, from 1.7 per cent in 65-69s up to 41.4 per cent in people of 95 or over.
- This shows that most people do not develop dementia even among the very oldest people, the majority (3/5) do not develop dementia.
- The total figure for the UK is 850,000 people.
- Figures need to be treated with caution because of lack of good definitions and diagnostic data.

# **Causes, Risk and Protective factors**

- Some forms of dementia are related to genetic inheritance. These are extremely rare in the population and have onset before the age of 60.
- Most forms of dementia have onset after the age of 65 and have mixed genetic and environmental factors.
- Some characteristics of the disease of dementia make it very difficult to conduct robust epidemiological research.
- Emergent evidence is now seen as sufficient to identify early risk factors which can be modified by public health approaches. These are:
  - Smoking
  - Obesity
  - Midlife high blood pressure (screening and management)
  - Cholesterol (screening and management)
  - Diabetes (screening and management)
  - $\circ$  Depression

## Interventions

- Because of issues with research involving dementia, there are no rigorously 'proven' interventions that work to prevent or reverse dementia.
- However, experts have reached a consensus of actions we can take to reduce risk of dementia:
  - Physical activity
  - Mediterranean diet
  - Not smoking
  - Not drinking excessive amounts of alcohol
  - Treat 'immediate disease precursors' like high blood pressure, obesity, and diabetes
- Protective factors include:
  - o Educational level
  - o Intellectual and social engagement
- Post-diagnosis treatments which have poor evidence for benefiting cognition:
  - Medication
  - Cognitive training
  - Art, music, and reminiscence therapies
- However, the evidence shows that social stimulation is beneficial for cognition and for well-being/quality of life, so these therapies could be useful for those aspects.
- Carers are often left out of the picture. Issues for carers include:
  - Suddenly going from 'spouse' to 'caregiver' with no training
  - Burden of care: lots of support is needed, including coping strategies and education about effect of dementia and changes in person over time
  - Respite is needed, and wellbeing and quality of life of carer is important
  - Carers can either enable or prevent person with dementia engaging in activities, so they need support to understand and help engagement

# Introduction

Recent qualitative research by Age UK<sup>1</sup> has highlighted some common attitudes and feelings about dementia among the general public. We conducted focus groups with people aged between 50 and 64, who were just 'on the cusp' of ageing. We wanted their views about the future and how prepared they felt for later life. Our sample included people from a wide range of walks of life, some being very comfortably-off, fit and healthy whereas others were in far more difficult circumstances, living on low incomes with high prevalence of health problems and disabilities. We found that even the fittest and healthiest found dementia to be a particular worry. Its occurrence was felt to be unpredictable at best and, given increased chances of surviving other illnesses such as cardiovascular disease and cancer, it was even seen by some as an inevitable stage of ageing. As one participant in our sample put it:

"People are staying physically healthy longer but not mentally healthy. In the past what happened was you died at the age your body wore out. Now what happens is that your body doesn't wear out, but your brain does."

This comment suggests a fatalistic attitude towards the decline our brains as we age, and this very likely comes with fear. Our minds are the essence of our aspirations, passions, capacities and personalities, they make us who we are.

This evidence review describes how much we do know about dementia and cognitive decline and we are fast reaching consensus among experts on how it is affected by our genes, our lifestyle and our environment. The coverage and quality of evidence are not perfect, as we discuss below. This means there is controversy about the correct interpretation of the data. However, experts in the UK have recently been able to reach a pragmatic consensus for action that could be taken now, while in the interim we develop better data and better ways to research dementia.

The level of any decline and how fast it progresses are unique to the individual, and depend on many factors, including genetic factors and IQ in youth.<sup>2</sup> Just as we all differ in our abilities to remember things, work out problems, plan and organise the future the way these abilities change with time also differs between people. Some experience very little difference; most of us experience some changes and for some of us who are affected by one or more of the dementia diseases, the changes can be very significant.

There are, however, two pieces of good news. The first is that dementia and mild cognitive impairment are relatively rare; most older people do **not** develop dementia. Current estimates suggest that fewer than one in five people over the age of 80 have dementia, which we will discuss in the first section of the review.<sup>3</sup>

The second is that it is possible to reduce the risk of cognitive decline. Recent research shows that our genes are responsible for approximately a quarter of the variability in cognitive abilities as we age<sup>4</sup>. This means that three quarters of the influence over our cognitive ageing is via potentially modifiable factors, including some lifestyle factors we might control ourselves, such as diet or exercise. The second section of the review will discuss what we know about interventions and protective factors for good brain health.

The review concentrates on interventions for community-dwelling older people rather than those in residential or nursing care homes, because of the relevance to services Age UKs may be able to provide.

# 'Normal' brain ageing

The average adult brain is about the size of a medium cauliflower. It consists of an intricate system of nerve cells (called neurons), supporting cells (called glia) and an enormous network of blood vessels. At only two per cent of the body's weight on average, the brain receives 20 per cent of the blood supply and uses 20 per cent of the total calorie intake. Tiny blood vessels (or capillaries) carry oxygen and nutrients for the brain's cells to survive and to work efficiently. Equally important, they carry away waste products which would otherwise become toxic. To be able to function well, then, it is essential that that brain receives an excellent blood circulation.

Neurons generate and carry electrical signals which provide information to and from our muscles, glands and sensory organs (skin, eyes, ears, tongue and nose), via the spinal cord. Inside the brain itself there are approximately 100 billion neurons. Each neuron makes on average 1,000 connections to other cells in the brain, producing around 100 trillion connections in the brain.

In basic shape, neurons are similar to trees. The mid part is usually a simple trunklike structure (called an axon) and either end forms a complex, similar to twigs at one end of a tree and roots at the other. Signals are generated at one end of the neuron, carried along its axon in one direction only, and communicated at the other end (e.g. by generating signals in other neurons). The parts of the brain where signals are communicated between neurons is sometimes referred to as 'grey matter; the parts where the electrical signals are carried along the neurons are often referred to as 'white matter'.



Figure 1 Brain magnetic resonance scan from the Brain Research Imaging Centre, Edinburgh; image prepared by JM Wardlaw

Different parts of the brain very basically correspond to different activities of the body (see Fig. 2) and the brain controls all our functions, behaviour and thinking.



Figure 2 Brain area and function

There are 3 types of function:

- 1. automatic functions including breathing, heart rate, digestion, body temperature control, regulation of hormones, etc;
- movement, balance posture and speech via our muscles (often referred to as 'motor function' by clinicians);
- thoughts and emotions, including recognition of faces, sounds, smells, etc., learning, memory, comprehending speech, making decisions, planning and organising.

The third function is known to scientists and clinicians as 'cognitive function' and is commonly believed to decline in older age. However, age-related declines in mental abilities are highly variable between different people and whereas average declines may be seen across the population, this reflects considerable decline in some, a little in most and none at all in others<sup>5</sup>. Some aspects do not tend to decline with age, whereas other areas of function do show some decline, on average, across the population. Cognitive skills that are more likely to endure with age include vocabulary, information and comprehension, Capacities that show more decline on average include the type of memory that lets us hold a telephone number in mind long enough to dial it (called 'working memory'), processing ('thinking') speed, and 'executive' functions (planning, organising, managing time, etc.)<sup>6</sup>. These declines can begin in middle age, or even earlier.



Figure 3 Aspects of cognitive decline across the population

The figure above shows cognitive decline in the participants of the Seattle Longitudinal Study<sup>7</sup>. Perceptual processing speed declines from before the age of 55, whereas verbal ability is relatively constant until much later in life.

# Mild cognitive impairment

Commonly reported functional memory problems include the following

- ✓ Names of people, places,
- ✓ Misplacing things
- ✓ Keeping track of schedule of commitments
- ✓ Forgetting to carry out an intended activity
- ✓ Numbers & passwords
- ✓ Remembering what was said or decided upon

Most of us notice such memory problems from time to time, they are commonlyknown features of normal cognitive ageing, and also of mild cognitive impairment (MCI)<sup>8</sup>. However, MCI is a condition that can be screened for (see, for example, the Six Item Cognitive Impairment Test or 6CIT).<sup>9</sup> There are a number of forms, but the most common, 'amnestic' MCI, is characterised by a set of problems with short term memory, planning, language, and/or attention which decline more rapidly than they would in normal, age-related cognitive decline, but not to the extent that they interfere with a person's day-to-day life.

Although assessments exist, there is no clear, agreed definition of MCI in comparison to the cognitive changes of normal brain ageing, and different studies, based on differing definitions, estimate a prevalence of between 5 and 20 per cent in the older population.<sup>10</sup> This equates to between 0.5 million and 2 million people in the UK.<sup>11</sup>

Importantly, research shows that people diagnosed with amnestic MCI have an increased risk of developing dementia, but only about 1 in 6 eventually do.<sup>12</sup> Furthermore, for some people MCI is the result of a curable condition such as stress, anxiety, depression, physical illness or the side effects of medication.

# Dementia

Dementia is a set of behaviours or 'symptoms' which suggest difficulties with cognitive function. The most common symptoms include: memory loss, confusion, mood and personality changes, problems with planning and doing tasks in the right order. Dementia is diagnosed when the symptoms cause such problems with the everyday tasks of daily life that the person affected cannot carry on living independently, without care, any longer.

Dementia is an 'organic' disorder, meaning there is an associated physical deterioration of the brain tissue, which can be seen via a brain scan or, after death, at autopsy. Dementia is progressive – the damage and symptoms get worse over time. It is therefore not a normal result of aging, but rather is the result of a disease.<sup>13</sup>

It is likely that damage to the brain starts decades before the real-world symptoms begin to show. This very long latent period has made a cure for dementia very difficult to develop, since deterioration has progressed so far by the time the symptoms are apparent. It also makes the identification of risk factors and protective factors via observation studies more difficult. We don't know the effects of the 'presymptomatic' brain damage, and what might look like a robust association between, for example, cognitively-stimulating activities and a lowered risk of dementia might in reality be an effect of early brain damage causing pre-symptomatic people to be less willing or able to take up cognitively-challenging activities. The same could be true for physical activity, diet, or any other factors that show an association within epidemiological research.

In addition, definitive clinical trials are difficult and expensive to conduct, as they would need to be undertaken over decades. Treatment or prevention may need to be started in midlife to delay or prevent dementia at age 80 or over.

# Cognitive reserve

Although the body of knowledge about changes to brain tissues associated with different diseases of dementia is very well established, other research has found that the full picture is not as simple as it may sound. Science has deduced a great deal of knowledge about the biological structures and processes of the brain but we still cannot state how such phenomena produce our incredibly complex personalities, thoughts, behaviours and capacities.

Key research illustrating how much more there is to find out shows that people with advanced pathological brain changes do not always display symptoms of dementia.<sup>14</sup> For example one UK study found that one third of people with no diagnosable dementia symptoms at death had similar levels of damage to the brain as did people who had probable or definite Alzheimer's.<sup>15</sup>

This phenomenon has led scientists to coin the phrase 'cognitive reserve', theorising that disruption to the structure and physiology of the brain can be accommodated by some people, to some extent, via their own ways of processing information.<sup>16</sup> It is possible that such people had larger brains and more neurons ('brain reserve'), or are able to process information in different ways within what remains of their healthy brain tissue, to maintain cognitive skills ('cognitive reserve').

The theory of brain reserve is controversial. Brain size is related to early developmental factors such as birth weight and early nutrition. A recent review of these sorts of factors and dementia found that the 'little' evidence available did point to an association between head circumference and incident dementia across diverse regions of the world.<sup>17</sup>

Cognitive reserve, on the other hand, refers to how flexibly and efficiently a person can make use of available brain reserve. The research literature uses proxy measures such as levels of education, IQ, literacy, occupational attainment and engagement in leisure activities when exploring cognitive reserve in the context of dementia risk. This will be discussed later in the Evidence Review, under 'Protective factors'. However, neuropsychological research has used techniques such as brain imaging to explore the different ways that older people process information when they are performing cognitive tasks. One study found that older people had lower scores on a declarative memory task than did young people (as expected) and there was high variability between the scores of the older folk (also as expected). Of those

who had poor memory, their pattern of processing was similar to the young people (who did considerably better), mainly using only the left hand side of the brain. However, for those older people who did much better at the task, their pattern was different – they used the right side as well as the left. The authors suggest that this pattern might have 'provided compensatory encoding resources', resulting in better cognition.<sup>18</sup>

# Types of dementia

There are over 100 types and many causes of dementia. Alzheimer's is the most common form of the disease, accounting for approximately two thirds of dementia cases in the UK. Vascular dementia is the next most common.<sup>19</sup> Mixed pathologies are, however, thought to be more common than any 'pure' form of the disease, in particular Alzheimer's with vascular dementia, and Alzheimer's with Lewy Body dementia<sup>20</sup>.

# Alzheimer's Disease

This is the most common cause of dementia, occurring in two forms. One relatively rare but important form is termed 'familial' or 'early onset' Alzheimer's which is thought to account for fewer than one in 1000 cases.<sup>21</sup> Typically, people with this form are diagnosed with it before the age of 60-65, some may develop it as early as their 30s. The genetic causes of familial Alzheimer's have been identified and if a parent has the disease it usually means the individual has a 50 per cent chance of having inherited it.

Far more common is late-onset Alzheimer's, which is diagnosed at the age of 65 or over, becoming increasingly common with older age. The genetic basis for this form of dementia is far less clear (see below).

For both forms of the disease, symptoms are similar although decline of cognitive abilities in the familial form might occur at a faster rate. During the course of the disease, the structure of the brain changes, leading to the malfunction and eventual death of neurons. This initially affects particular areas of the brain which are important for learning new information and goes on to affect all areas of cognitive function. After death, changes to the structure of the brain and tissue loss for a person who had Alzheimer's can be clearly seen at autopsy (Fig. 4).



Figure 4 Tissue loss in Alzheimer's vs healthy brain

## Vascular dementia

In vascular dementia, restrictions in the blood vessels of the brain disrupt the oxygen supply to the tissue. As previously discussed, without an excellent blood supply neurons cannot function. Neurons, when they die, cannot be replaced by the body. The symptoms of vascular dementia can occur either suddenly, following a stroke, or over time, through a series of small strokes. Symptoms tend to be impaired judgement and inability to plan a series of steps to complete a task, rather than memory loss.

Dementia subtype	Early symptoms	Tissue damage	% of dementia cases
Alzheimer's Disease	Impaired memory, apathy and depression, gradual onset	Cortical amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles	50-75%
Vascular Dementia	Similar to AD but memory less affected, mood fluctuations more prominent; physical frailty, stepwise onset	Blood supply to critical regions of brain, or more diffusely.	20-30%
Lewy Body Dementia	Marked fluctuation in cognitive ability; visual hallucinations; Parkinsonism	Cortical Lewy bodies	<5%
Fronto- temporal Dementia	Personality changes; mood changes; disihibition; language difficulties	No single pathology – damage limited to frontal and temporal lobes	5-10%

#### Table 1: Common dementia subtypes; source Prince et al, 2014

Find out more, including fact sheets, on the Alzheimer's Society webpage <a href="http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/Facts\_about\_dementia/What\_is\_dementia/">http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/Facts\_about\_dementia/What\_is\_dementia/</a> or NHS Choices website <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/dementia-guide/Pages/causes-of-dementia.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/dementia-guide/Pages/causes-of-dementia.aspx</a> .

# Tests and diagnosis of dementia

It can be difficult to objectively assess cognitive function, especially in older people for whom other issues can interfere with assessment such as hearing or sight loss, or certain medications. The most widely-used assessment is the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE). It is a series of questions that test mental abilities such as memory, attention, and language; examples of tasks asked of the person being tested include:

- to give the current date and time
- to name the place they are in (the country, town, district, hospital and ward)
- repeat a list of three words, and learn them for recall after another task has been completed

- name common objects such as a pencil and a watch
- copy a diagram of a pair of intersecting pentagons<sup>22</sup>

An indication of dementia on a test such as this will prompt further specialist assessment, including physical examinations, blood and urine tests, more detailed memory assessment and perhaps brain scans.<sup>23</sup>

Unfortunately, once symptoms have appeared, the degeneration of the brain tissue will have been going on for some time and therefore be fairly advanced. Scientists are currently looking for simple diagnostic tests which give an earlier indication of the disease. Very recent research indicates that a worsened sense of smell could indicate the development of MCI or Alzheimer's.<sup>24</sup> Another test has been reported which detects the presence of a particular protein in the eye which is a 'biomarker' for Alzheimer's. This test involves applying an ointment to the inner eyelid and scanning the eye with a laser the day after.<sup>25</sup>

The progress of dementia, in terms of the changes to the brain tissues and / or the changes in symptoms and behaviour for the individual, is so variable between people that it is difficult to monitor the efficacy of therapeutic interventions. Age UK is right at the forefront of developments in cognitive testing with the Disconnected Mind project at Edinburgh University, which may eventually help to address this issue. In 2014, a paper was published in which visual speed was linked to cognitive decline.<sup>26</sup> These promising findings hold the potential for a simple way of testing how our thinking skills are changing, by measuring how well we are doing visually. More research is needed but these findings, from a study funded by Age UK, are an important new domain for research.

# Prevalence

Prevalence means the proportion of the population who have the disease at any particular point in time. Cognitive decline occurs along a continuum, and as yet there are no clearly set boundaries between normal, mild cognitive impairment and dementia that are agreed by all. Consequently there is no standardisation in the methods of research, leaving comparison of findings difficult to interpret. This makes reliable evidence on prevalence, risk and protective factors difficult to compile

It is commonly accepted that dementia is under-diagnosed, for example the 2007 Dementia Strategy by the Department of Health (DH) estimated that only one third of people with dementia received a formal diagnosis.<sup>27</sup> Other estimates have found only around 43 per cent of people with dementia have been diagnosed.<sup>28</sup> For many people, diagnosis does not happen until they come into contact with health services for other reasons than cognitive decline, for example hospital admission.<sup>29</sup>

One of the key objectives of the DH 2009 Dementia Strategy was to obtain accurate, early diagnosis and intervention for all. NHS England has a commitment to increase the dementia diagnosis rate to 67 per cent by March 2015. If this target is reached, two thirds of people with dementia would be diagnosed.

However, research studies conducted in specific community or care settings can provide estimates based on both 'diagnosed' and 'undiagnosed' rates, albeit with differing definitions and coverage between different studies. An important project which employed a technique of expert appraisal and consensus on previously conducted prevalence studies provides the best estimates we currently have. Age-specific rates are shown in Table 2.<sup>30</sup>

Age specific, estimated percentages of diagnosed and undiagnosed dementia in the UK - 2014					
	Male	Female	Total		
60-64	0.9	0.9	0.9		
65-69	1.5	1.8	1.7		
70-74	3.1	3.0	3.0		
75-79	5.3	6.6	6.0		
80-84	10.3	11.7	11.1		
85-89	15.1	20.2	18.3		
90-94	22.6	33.0	29.9		
95+	28.8	44.2	41.1		

Table 2 Age specific rates of undiagnosed and diagnosed dementia

These estimates suggest that most older people do **not** develop dementia. There is clearly an increase by age group, however even among the oldest group of people in their late 90s the majority are free from dementia. Other estimates concur, finding that less than 20 per cent of people over the age of 80 have dementia.<sup>31</sup> Based on these rates, the overall prevalence of late onset dementia is 7.1 per cent for people over 65, resulting in an overall figure of 850,000 people in the UK in 2015.

## **Diagnosed** Dementia

The Quality Outcomes Framework records dementia diagnoses in participating General Practices in England.<sup>32</sup> A provisional figure for 2013/14 shows a prevalence of 0.61 per cent (for the whole population) or 326,350 diagnosed cases. Comparing geographically, prevalence is higher in the North and the South of England (0.68 and 0.67 per cent respectively); somewhat lower in the Midlands and East of England (0.62%) and much lower in London (0.39 per cent).<sup>33</sup>

Around one third of those diagnosed with dementia live on their own in the community.<sup>34</sup> About two-thirds of people living in care homes, or 275,000 people, have diagnosable dementia (ie. dementia that has progressed enough to be readily diagnosed by a professional).<sup>35</sup>

# Causes, risk and protective factors

Research continues to uncover aspects of dementia that help to understand the disease, however the causes are still unknown. The change from healthy ageing to dementia is described by researchers as a series of events that occur in the brain over a decade or longer.<sup>36</sup> This gradual process, which results from some, as yet unknown, combination of biological, genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors, eventually sets some people on a course to MCI and possibly dementia. Other people, whose genetic makeup may be the same or different and who experience a different combination of factors over a lifetime, continue on a course of healthy cognitive ageing.<sup>37</sup>

## Genetic causes and associations for Alzheimer's

Early onset, or familial, Alzheimer's affects people at a relatively young age (ie. they are diagnosed before the age of 60). It has been well established that this form of the disease is inherited in approximately 80 per cent of cases.<sup>38</sup> Early onset Alzheimer's is very rare in comparison to the late onset disease, however it still affects at least 17,000 people in the UK.<sup>39</sup>

The more common late onset Alzheimer's affects around 850,000 people in the UK and has a far more complicated genetic basis that is still unclear (see Fig. 2). One variant of a particular gene (ApoE) has been established as a risk factor (ApoE 4), increasing risk up to 10 times, whereas another variant of the same gene (ApoE 2) has been found to be mildly protective. A growing number of genes have been identified as having some, low, impact on risk of developing the disease. In general, the higher risk genes are the least frequent in the population, and those that have the lowest associated risk (or are slightly protective) are more common.



Figure 5 Genes for Alzheimer's – reproduced from Alzheimer's Research UK

Figure 2 illustrates the current knowledge of the genetic bases for Alzheimer's. Within the population, the rarest genes carry the highest risks and so give rise to the rarest occurrence of disease – for example for early onset Alzheimer's, three genes have been identified which are viewed to be causal of the disease. The more common occurrences of variants of genes are associated with much lower risk of developing the disease, indicating that the development of the disease is greatly affected by other factors.

# Genes for other types of dementia

There are no established genetic causes for the more common forms of vascular dementia. Some studies have shown that a gene increasing the risk of late onset Alzheimer's (ApoE4) is also linked to vascular dementia, although the association is much weaker than that for Alzheimer's. Importantly there are known genes that contribute to underlying diseases associated with Vascular Dementia, which are high cholesterol, high blood pressure and diabetes. Fronto-temporal dementia often runs in families and in some cases is inherited as a change to a single gene. Dementia with Lewy Bodies is not well understood genetically. In common with the other dementia diseases this too has some rare, familial cases and more common cases which are not linked to family history.

For more information, see *Genetics of Dementia* by Alzheimer's Society http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=168

## Other risk factors

The following evidence on lifestyle and environmental factors is based on epidemiological, or 'observational' studies. These determine common factors in the population that might point to how or why dementia occurs in certain groups of people and not in others. As discussed previously (see Prevalence), the data on dementia and cognitive decline are likely to be greatly underestimated due to incomplete screening and inconsistent diagnosis within the population. In addition, different epidemiological studies may also apply different criteria to identifying cases. It should therefore be borne in mind that evidence on risk and protective factors is indicative at best, showing associations with certain factors, but not causes. In fact, in 2010 the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) issued a 'State-of-the-Science Conference Statement'<sup>40</sup> on the prevention of Alzheimer's and cognitive decline, stating;

*Currently, firm conclusions cannot be drawn about the association of any modifiable risk factor with cognitive decline or Alzheimer disease.* 

However, other commentators suggest that while technically correct, this view largely misses the point; the standards of proof are at fault as they can never be ethically met.

Meanwhile, in the UK a pragmatic approach has been adopted, accepting that the evidence in general provides 'emergent associations' rather than conclusive proof. In early 2014, 26 national organisations and 32 dementia and public health specialists signed a consensus document (*The Blackfriars Consensus on promoting brain health*).<sup>41</sup> The authors highlight that there has been comparatively little research activity on preventing or delaying dementia (through modifiable risk factors) compared to biomedical research focused on finding a pharmaceutical cure. Nevertheless they conclude that there are enough data to warrant public health and other approaches based on the 'possibility' of dementia risk reduction in the population. They state:

'The scientific evidence is evolving rapidly and sufficient to justify considered action and further research on dementia risk reduction, both by reducing the modifiable factors and improving the recognised protective factors.'

The authors of this paper also highlight the time lag in benefit of targeted action on the emergent risk factors, now, in particular those that are modifiable throughout the life course, to prevent or delay dementia in old age. If this can be achieved it needs to start now.

## Age

For all dementias which are not linked to family history, older age is associated with higher prevalence. There is enough evidence on this to warrant the consensus message, 'Dementia is a common syndrome closely associated with ageing, with

some known underlying causes and others which are less well understood.<sup>42</sup> Age is not, of course, a 'modifiable' risk factor in the sense that individual lifestyle changes or policy or service interventions can make any differences. However, age ranges can be used to target initiatives, particularly if specific trigger points or 'sensitive' periods over people's lifetimes can be identified.

# Modifiable risk factors

The World Alzheimer Report 2014<sup>43</sup> provides the most thorough and up to date analysis of modifiable and protective factors at the time of writing. The authors group these factors into 4 domains:

- 1. Developmental factors arising during the neonatal, infancy and childhood periods of the lifecourse
- 2. Psychological / psychosocial -
- 3. Lifestyle behaviours or habits that are modifiable by individuals
- 4. Cardiovascular specifically, cardiovascular diseases that are seen as risk factors (or 'precursors', in some cases), to dementia.

Summary tables of all the risk and protective factors are extracted from the report and included in the Appendix to this Evidence Review. In the following section we review those factors that are likely to be of significance to Age UK.

## Cardiovascular risk factors

High blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes and obesity are well established modifiable risk factors for cardiovascular diseases such as heart disease and stroke. These tend to increase with age across the adult life course and are common by midlife. People who experience a stroke are at approximately twice the risk of developing dementia, with the three years following the stroke being the highest risk period.

All of the cardiovascular risk factors may increase the risk of dementia by increasing the risk of hardening of the arteries (and inflammatory and thrombitic effects of vascular disease). This has an effect not only on vascular dementia, but also on Alzheimer's and mixed dementias.

The cardiovascular risk factors may work jointly, however research has looked at them independently and shows:

- Particularly strong evidence for midlife high blood pressure and any dementia; there is disagreement over whether this holds for Alzheimer's (or whether the effect is skewed by vascular dementia). It may be that midlife is a particularly 'sensitive period' for high blood pressure leading to dementia of any kind, including Alzheimer's, in later life. The occurrence of high blood pressure in late life is not associated with dementia.
- Obesity is likewise associated with increased risk when its onset is in midlife. One study showed that people admitted to hospital with obesity when they were aged between 30 and 39 years were at significantly higher risk than those aged 40 to 49 when obesity was first recorded. The relative risk

reduced with age of onset of obesity, until at 70 to 79 there was no increased risk and at 80 or over there was actually a reduced risk of subsequent dementia.<sup>44</sup>

- High cholesterol (or, more accurately, dyslipidaemia, which encompasses either high levels of 'bad' cholesterol or low levels of 'good' cholesterol) shows inconsistent findings in terms of dementia risk. There is currently no evidence that preventing or treating high cholesterol will affect cognitive decline, Alzheimer's or other dementias.
- In general, most studies have found that diabetes in late life, and probably midlife, is associated with an increased risk for dementia, particularly vascular dementia.

A decline in blood pressure level, body mass index and total cholesterol, however, precedes and predicts the onset of dementia, particularly Alzheimer's, by five to 15 years.

Notwithstanding this rather mixed picture, some research does suggest that public health measures targeting prevention of heart disease and stroke in England might have led to a concurrent reduction in age-specific dementia rates.<sup>45</sup> Whereas cardiovascular health is improving in high income countries (through good screening and treatment of risk factors), it is deteriorating in middle- and low-income countries where people are taking up Western lifestyles without the necessary screening and treatment. This is of great concern in terms of the global burden of dementia in future.

## Depression

Meta-analysis which pulls together the findings across a range of studies and analyses them together shows that depression and risk of dementia are related.<sup>46</sup> However, there are a number of explanations for the relationship, including:

- i. A person becomes depressed as a result of noticing symptoms of cognitive impairment or dementia (for example, feeling worried or hopeless about losing mental capacities), or from being diagnosed with dementia, which is likely to be very distressing.
- ii. Depression is an early symptom of dementia. Given that changes to the brain might be occurring 20 to 30 years before anyone is diagnosed, depression might occur as a result of these changes, and appear to be unrelated if it's onset is so far in advance of a dementia diagnosis.
- iii. Depression is a causal risk factor, or it is independently associated with dementia.

#### Personality and life events

There is a lot of interest in the issue of stress over an individual's lifetime and the effects this can have on their health, including cognitive function. However, it is difficult to measure 'stress' in an objective way as individuals can respond differently to similar situations, and researchers believe that the person's response is more important than is the stressful event. One way of looking at this is to explore personality. Psychological research has established that personality traits, measured

by psychometric tests, remain fairly stable throughout adulthood and can be used as an indicator of how an individual responds to potentially stressful situations. The most widely used model of personality today measures traits across five factors.<sup>47</sup> These are neuroticism, extraversion, openness, agreeableness and conscientiousness. The risk of both dementia<sup>48</sup> and cognitive decline are higher for people with high levels of neuroticism. The trait of conscientiousness was associated with lower levels of cognitive decline.<sup>49</sup>

#### Smoking tobacco

Current smoker status is associated with increased risk for cognitive decline, but the picture for past smoking is less consistent.

A recent systematic review<sup>50</sup> and meta-analysis found that:

- There were significantly more new cases (ie. higher incidence) of Alzheimer's per year among current smokers compared to people who had never smoked. There was also a trend towards higher incidence for vascular dementia and any form of dementia, but this was not statistically significant.
- Ex-smokers were at a similar risk to those who had never smoked, for all types of incident dementia.
- Ex-smokers and current smokers combined had higher risk for Alzheimer's and a non-significant trend for vascular and other dementias.
- Inconsistent evidence concerning how much people smoked.
- Insufficient evidence to look at how APOE genotype affected the relationship.

#### Drinking alcohol

Alcohol has both damaging and protective effects for the brain, depending on how much people drink. Very heavy drinking, to the point of alcoholism, is a known cause of dementia.<sup>51 52</sup> It results in the loss of brain tissue, particularly in areas of the brain related to memory and visuospatial functions.

There are also, however, mechanisms by which alcohol can be protective of brain tissue, for example by increasing 'good' cholesterol which, in high concentrations, lowers 'bad' cholesterol and thereby protects cardiovascular health. This might explain findings for research which shows that people who drink alcohol are at lower risk for Alzheimer's and other dementias than are people who abstain. Moderate drinkers (1-14 units per week for women and 1-21 for men) have lower risk than do abstainers, and heavy drinkers (more than 14 units for women or 21 for men per week) have similar risk to abstainers.<sup>53</sup>

#### Physical inactivity

There is considerable controversy over the link or otherwise between physical activity or exercise and risk of cognitive decline or dementia. This is mainly due to difficulties in conducting research which is good enough to provide conclusive proof. Some issues that affect how we interpret findings include:

- Funding randomised, controlled trials with sufficiently long follow-ups to ascertain whether the outcome is due to the effect of physical exercise on dementia, or the effect of dementia on the person's physical activity.
- Differences in the measurement of physical activity, dementia and cognitive decline between observational studies.

However, the link between physical activity and cardiovascular health (e.g. protection against high blood pressure, diabetes, high cholesterol and obesity) is well established, and these diseases in turn have been shown to be high risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia. Whether physical activity is independently related to dementia is not fully agreed between scientists, however for the purposes of Age UK this might be a moot point. The Blackfriars Consensus suggests that the urgency of taking preventive action is high because of the long latency period of the disease, which starts in midlife and necessitates a lifecourse approach. Waiting for standards of proof which might be impossible to obtain may be an impractical approach in this case. The best available evidence<sup>54</sup> suggests that high physical activity levels are associated with a 43 per cent reduction of risk compared to low levels.

#### Diet

There is currently insufficient evidence on the relationship between the Mediterranean diet, B, C or E vitamins, flavonoids or omega-3 oils and cognitive function. There is some evidence that people with Vitamin B deficiency might benefit from supplementation but as yet there is no conclusive evidence.

Some studies support the role of anti-oxidants, B vitamins, and Omega-3 fatty acids in cognitive health.<sup>55 56 57 58</sup> However, these seem to only work as factors in food; supplements have not shown to be effective.<sup>59</sup> The most validated scientific dietary advice for good cognitive health and reducing dementia risk is to take a 'Mediterranean diet' – rich in vegetables, legumes, fruit, nuts, cereals, fish, and moderate amounts of alcohol and low in meat, poultry and dairy products.<sup>60</sup> On the other hand, a diet high in sugar, cholesterol, and trans-fats seems to lead to poorer cognitive condition for older people.<sup>61</sup>

#### Cognitive stimulation

Consistent results from a large number of observational studies that measured cognitive activity in late life suggest that this might be 'beneficial for both brain structure and function'. However, since the brain damage of dementia is likely to have started over a decade prior to noticeable symptoms, this might be reverse causation whereby a pre-symptomatic person with dementia feels less willing or able to take up cognitively stimulating activities. Authors of the report suggest that, in particular, video games (including smartphone applications) are worth studying because their usage has increased dramatically and is highly prevalent across society. Even small effects of these may have significant public health outcomes.

It has been found that people with higher IQ, level of education, occupational complexity, or participation in leisure activities with social networks tend to show less severe symptoms in the presence of the disease of dementia.

# Interventions for cognitive decline and dementia

There is no cure for dementia nor for most cases of MCI except those that are caused by stress, anxiety/depression, medication, or certain medical conditions.<sup>62</sup>

However there is still much that can be done to:

- prevent dementia or delay its onset by reducing associated risk factors through public health approaches and lifestyle modification,
- slow down the progression of dementia or MCI, through drug treatments and / or lifestyle change, and
- focus on quality of life, enabling those with a diagnosis to live as well as possible with the condition.

## Preventative interventions

As discussed under 'Other risk factors' above, UK experts, policy makers and researchers have reached consensus regarding some actions towards possible reduction of risk of dementia in the population. Whether such actions prevent occurrence or delay onset is unclear, however either scenario would be desirable and of benefit to individuals and their families, and to society as a whole. Emergent evidence suggests that lifestyle factors contributing to cardiovascular health are also likely to benefit cognitive function in later life. These factors include:

- Physical activity
- Mediterranean diet
- Not smoking
- Not drinking to excess

In addition, interventions to address the 'intermediate disease precursors' such as raised blood pressure, raised blood cholesterol, obesity and diabetes through screening, early detection, treatment and good management of the condition are thought to help reduce risk, progression and severity of dementia.

Protective factors which are associated with cognitive reserve include educational level and intellectual and social engagement.

A study in Wales that followed over 2,000 middle-aged men for 35 years found that while exercise is the most significant factor, other lifestyle behaviours – such as healthy diet, not smoking, and low amounts of alcohol – have large effects on the risk of developing dementia.<sup>63</sup> Following participants for such a long time may help

control for 'reverse causation' (that is, that people take low levels of exercise because they are already developing dementia).

The evidence strongly suggests that the most effective interventions for warding off and even improving cognitive decline, in healthy older people as well as those with mild cognitive impairment and dementia, would at the least involve regular physical exercise. Studies have shown a strong link between cognitive function and physical function,<sup>64 65</sup> as well as activities of everyday living.<sup>66 67</sup> Adding in eating a healthy diet, quitting smoking, and including engaging activities and social interaction should strengthen the protective effects and even some reversal of decline.<sup>68</sup> If only half of the men in the Wales study had taken up one additional health behaviour, 'then during the following 30 years there would have been a 13% reduction in dementia, a 12% drop in diabetes, 6% less vascular disease and a 5% reduction in total mortality.<sup>69</sup>

Physical exercise could be aerobic, resistance, and balance, or a combination of these. Stretching exercises only saw no benefit in cognition.<sup>70</sup> Exercise frequency reported to show benefits were between 3-5 times per week, and 30 minutes to 1 hour in length.<sup>71</sup> Group interventions have not been demonstrated as being more or less effective than individual ones, but they would have added benefits of being more cost-effective, and be able to include social engagement.<sup>72</sup>

Whereas experts<sup>73</sup> suggest that older people should be included in targeted programs for smoking cessation, detection and treatment of hypertension, reduction in obesity and increasing physical activity, it is unfortunately true that self-directed uptake of an overall healthy lifestyle in the UK is quite poor.<sup>74 75 76</sup> Offering services directly to older people which engage them to participate in healthy lifestyle choices, based on well-researched attitudes and experiences, could be beneficial.<sup>77</sup>

In one example, a recent Finnish study has found promising results at two year follow up with 1,260 participants aged 60-77. The intervention included nutritional guidance, physical exercise, cognitive training, and social activities, and management of vascular risk factors. The control group received regular health advice. After two years, cognitive performance was measured by a comprehensive neuropsychological test battery. They found a significant beneficial effect on overall cognitive performance in the intervention group. The beneficial effect was seen in each cognitive domain: memory, executive function, and psychomotor speed. Dropout rate was only 11 per cent, and participants' experiences were very positive. These results highlight the value of a multi-domain approach that is effective for several cognitive functions. An extended follow-up (7 years) with a sustenance intervention is planned to evaluate longer-term effects on Alzheimer's or other forms of dementia.<sup>78</sup>

## Post-diagnostic interventions

For those who have been diagnosed with MCI or dementia, the progression of the disease and the impact it can have on their capacities and their lives is dependent to some extent on their overall health.

Factors particularly amenable to change include:

- Social isolation
- Cognitive stimulation
- Prompt treatment of infection
- Prompt treatment of depression

Notwithstanding the problems involved in researching dementia and finding a cure, many of the challenges of living with the disease can be ameliorated, and there are many ways of supporting people and carers through their experience of dementia.<sup>79</sup>

While the symptoms caused by physical damage to the brain are not yet preventable, having dementia can bring with it difficulties that can be reduced or prevented.

A key example would be social isolation. Many people find mental illness and disability anxiety-provoking topics and if a colleague, friend or family member is diagnosed with dementia they may find it easier to avoid their company. Social withdrawal is not a symptom of dementia, but the person with the diagnosis finds themselves in a more socially isolated position, and this might be happening at a time when they need even more social support than did prior to their illness. Good information, advice, advocacy and emotional support services, soon after a person has received a diagnosis, can be instrumental in reducing these sorts of problems.

Systematic reviews have found evidence that participating in stimulating and social activities can reduce the risk of developing dementia.<sup>80 81</sup> These activities can also help reduce depression and feelings of loneliness in people with dementia, increasing quality of life and self-confidence.<sup>82</sup>

In addition, pain and ill-health can also cause many changes in the way a person with dementia behaves,<sup>83</sup> leading to commonly-used terms such as 'challenging behaviour' and ensuing management of these behaviours using sedative drugs.

## Drug treatments

Although the majority of research funding has been directed at finding a drug treatment, such a cure for dementia or MCI remains elusive. The prolonged presymptomatic stage of dementia may mean that the disease is so far progressed by the time symptoms are apparent that it has become too late to reverse the damage to the brain. Equally, drugs developed to slow the progression of dementia have mixed success and do not work for everyone.<sup>84 85</sup> Some short-term gains in memory have been demonstrated in some individuals, but the effects are usually small and do not last.

Other suggested medications include non-steroidal inflammatory inhibitors (NSAIDs), oestrogen replacement therapy, and ginko biloba. There is no robust evidence that any of these therapies work to reduce risk or progression of cognitive decline, and even some evidence that oestrogen could increase risk.<sup>86</sup> Various vitamin and other supplements have also not shown to improve cognitive risk or decline.<sup>87</sup>

Drugs are, however, commonly used to manage other conditions or behaviours associated with dementia. Commonly, people with dementia exhibit what is termed

'challenging behaviour' (such as aggression), which can make caring for them very difficult, both for family or other non-professional carers, and care practitioners alike. 'Anti-psychotic' medication (e.g. drugs developed to treat symptoms such as delusion or paranoia) might be prescribed in these cases, however the National Institute for Clinical Excellence recommends that such drugs are used sparingly and only for a short time.<sup>88</sup>

It could well be that being diagnosed with MCI or dementia, or even prediagnostically noticing the signs, can be distressing and result in depression in some people. Responding appropriately to symptoms of depression is very important and anti-depressants might be helpful in some cases alongside appropriate emotional support, talking therapies, information, advice and advocacy.

Blood pressure medication has been shown, in one study, to ameliorate cognitive decline in dementia.<sup>89</sup>

#### Cognitive interventions

Cognitive interventions are usually separated into three categories (although some people use them interchangeably, especially in non-academic literature): Cognitive Stimulation, Cognitive Training, and Cognitive Rehabilitation. Simon and colleagues<sup>90</sup> define these as:

<u>Cognitive stimulation</u> comprises involvement in group activities that are designed to increase cognitive and social functioning in a nonspecific manner.

<u>Cognitive training</u> is a more specific approach, which teaches theoretically supported strategies and skills to optimize specific cognitive functions.

<u>Cognitive rehabilitation</u> involves an individualised approach using tailored programs centred on specific activities of daily life. Personally relevant goals are identified, and the therapist, patient and family work together to achieve these goals (e.g., joining a social group).

Cognitive training is the most widely-studied intervention of these three, possibly because it is the most specific and hence the most amenable to experimental study. Generalised cognitive or memory improvement through 'mental exercise' have not been proven to be effective, especially in randomised, controlled trials.<sup>91</sup> Where improvements have been seen, they are usually limited to the specific cognitive task engaged in the intervention, rather than any wider effects that could improve the person's capacity for independent living.

It is interesting to note that in some studies, even if objective measures of cognitive function did not show improvement, subjective measures did.<sup>92</sup> In other words, people *felt* as if their memory had improved as a result of the intervention, even if their test scores showed no improvement. This is an important finding in terms of the well-being or 'morale' of the person with dementia.

#### Physical exercise

It is important to note that in all of the studies mentioned here, the benefits of physical exercise only last for at most a few months after exercise interventions have ceased. Therefore, physical exercise in the case of cognitive function is the same as it is in the case of cardiovascular function, ie. it needs to become a lifestyle change rather than a one-off, time-limited intervention.

For people with MCI (who have an increased risk of eventually developing dementia), several studies show improvements in cognitive function through physical activity. One study reported modest improvements in cognitive function after six months.<sup>93</sup> Other studies have shown that physical activity benefits memory,<sup>94 95 96</sup> attention,<sup>97</sup> executive functions<sup>98 99</sup> and cognition in general.<sup>100 101</sup>

For people with dementia, several research studies have shown physical activity to be beneficial in terms of their cognitive function. For example, people with Alzheimer's showed significant cognitive improvements when doing cycling training and somatic and isotonic-relaxation exercises.<sup>102</sup> <sup>103</sup> The reasons why physical exercise might improve brain function (whereas 'brain training' does not), has been explored by researchers. Studies have shown that in people diagnosed with Alzheimer's patients, cardiorespiratory fitness has been associated with brain volume, in terms of the overall amount of brain tissue and the volume of white matter.<sup>104</sup> Perhaps importantly, the parts of the brain most associated with memory are notably affected.<sup>105</sup>

As well as cognitive function, exercise can also improve strength, cardiovascular fitness and, some argue, 'challenging behaviour'.<sup>106 107 108 109 110</sup>

However, despite positive effects of exercise on depression in healthy older adults, the research findings on depression in people with dementia are mixed.<sup>111</sup>

## Other cognitively-stimulating activities

While targeted memory or 'brain training' has shown poor results, other types of everyday mental stimulation does seem to improve cognition or delay decline. Examples are speaking a second language<sup>112</sup> or reading.<sup>113</sup>

Reminiscence Therapy has been used as a way of promoting well-being in older people since the 1950s. There is no 'standard' model for providing this therapy, but in general the idea is to enable or encourage people to think or talk about personally significant events that occurred in the past. The lack of a definitive service model makes this type of intervention difficult to study via experimental research, and indeed literature review finds that many studies that have tried to evaluate these therapies have been assessed to be of poor quality. However, meta-analysis has found evidence that reminiscence therapy can improve well-being and reduce depression, even if improvements in cognitive function are not well-evidenced.<sup>114</sup>

For a couple of decades, art therapies (art, music and dance) have also been used as an appropriate intervention for people with dementia, to provide cognitively stimulating activities and to improve well-being.<sup>115</sup> As in the case for reminiscence

therapy, there is no definitive model for any of the arts therapies and therefore the same difficulties apply in terms of providing empirical evidence of their effectiveness. Recent literature reviews of art therapy for people with dementia have found that it has not been studied robustly or systematically enough to say whether or not it is effective in improving cognition, well-being, or anything else.<sup>116</sup> <sup>117</sup>

Music therapy has been used to improve symptoms of dementia such as apathy, depression, irritability, agitation and anxiety, euphoria, hallucinations, and disinhibition. However, as with the other therapies discussed above, high-quality evidence for the efficacy is lacking. Two recent meta-analyses found the effects of music therapy on anxiety symptoms were moderate, the effects on depression and behaviour were small, and there was not enough evidence to support any beneficial effect of music therapy on cognitive function or activities of daily living.<sup>118</sup> <sup>119</sup> Important factors for success seem to be a long intervention period (greater than 3 months)<sup>120</sup> and the effectiveness of the therapist in engaging with the clients.<sup>121</sup>

The research-based evidence for providing large-scale services focusing on cognitive interventions, reminiscent therapy, or art therapy for decline is not yet robust enough,<sup>122</sup> however this does not mean they have no value. Case studies and anecdotal evidence suggest that recipients of these therapies and their carers can get enjoyment out of these activities, no studies have found any negative effects, and these interventions may be falling victim to unrealistic standards of proof.

#### Improving living environments

Other types of interventions that have been found to be important to help people with cognitive decline and dementia live at home as long as possible are safety adaptions in the home, such as grab rails and dealing with tripping and falling hazards.<sup>123</sup>

# Living with dementia or cognitive decline

For most of us, the right to make choices about our own lives is key to our quality of life and wellbeing. For someone diagnosed with dementia, this right comes into question when their capacity to understand a situation, reason and make decisions is uncertain. Having reduced cognitive capacity can make a person more vulnerable to exploitation or abuse, however it also brings vulnerability to overprotectiveness from others, for example loved ones or professional carers, which can also result in restricting someone's access to choice. Although assessment tools have been developed to measure quality of life in people with dementia,<sup>124</sup> we could find no research on the views of people with dementia about quality of life and access to choice.

The Mental Capacity Act 2005<sup>125</sup> aims to protect the interests of people who have reduced capacity to make decisions. It defines five statutory principles which aim to both protect people who lack capacity and help them take part, as much as possible, in decisions that affect them:

1) Every adult has the right to make his or her own decisions and must be assumed to have capacity to make them unless it is proved otherwise.

- 2) A person must be given all practicable help before anyone treats them as not being able to make their own decisions.
- 3) Just because an individual makes what might be seen as an unwise decision, they should not be treated as lacking capacity to make that decision.
- 4) Anything done or any decision made on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done in their best interests.
- 5) Anything done for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity should be the least restrictive of their basic rights and freedoms.

The balance between empowering people to participate in decisions that affect them while providing proportionate, appropriate protection from risk of harm needs to be considered. Arguably it is often neglected when developing organisational policy and services, and people with dementia are not consulted because assumptions are made about their capacity to participate, or risk of distress or harm from being consulted.

An important area that has not been addressed in research so far is the extent to which people with dementia and carers wish to access dementia-specific services or whether they would prefer to access dementia-friendly, generic services and in which instances.

# Conclusion

Although a drug cure for dementia or cognitive impairment remains elusive, there is still much that can be done to prevent or delay the onset of either condition, slow down progression of either condition, and most importantly for Age UK, to improve people's well-being while living with these conditions.

Age UK, as the largest charity for older people, could be in a unique position to provide dementia-friendly support and services which do not define people by their dementia, rather are inclusive of their needs in a generic setting. We could also supplement our evidence-based guides on healthy ageing with messages on healthy cognitive ageing.

	Direction of Association	Sufficient number of cohort studies to draw meaningful conclusions	Consistency across studies	Evidence type (robust, moderate, insufficient)	Notes
Psychological fac	ctors – midlife				
Depression	$\uparrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	Metaregression indicates smaller effect sizes (closer to the null) for studies with longer follow-up periods. However, limited evidence on midlife exposure
Anxiety	$\uparrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	One cohort study suggesting possible increased risk
Sleep disorders	$\uparrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	Very few long-term cohort studies
Psychological distress	1	No	High	Insufficient	Indirect evidence using personality type as a lifelong stable proxy for the likely intensity and duration of stress response. Neuroticism positively associated and conscientiousness negatively associated with dementia/ AD risk
Psychological factors – late life					
Depression	$\uparrow$	Yes	High	Moderate	A strong and consistent association observed across many studies. However, this may reflect reverse causality (see midlife above)
Anxiety	$\rightarrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	One case-control and one cohort study – no association observed
Sleep disorders	1	No	n/a	Insufficient	Suggestive evidence from a small number of cohort studies. Various self- reported exposures. Short follow-up. Reverse causality not excluded.
Psychological distress	$\uparrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	See midlife (above)

# Appendix A – Risk factors for dementia (reproduced from World Alzheimer Report 2014)

	Direction of Association	Sufficient number of cohort studies to draw meaningful conclusions	Consistency across studies	Evidence type (robust, moderate, insufficient)	Notes
Lifestyle factors – r	nidlife		•	•	
Smoking	1	No	Low	Moderate	Late-life studies include retrospective assessment of lifetime smoking history, and support hypothesis. Midlife exposure in long-term cohort studies may underestimate effect due to mortality/ competing risk
Alcohol	$\rightarrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	Very few studies
Micro- and macronutrient deficiency	$\rightarrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	Very few studies
Physical activity	$\downarrow \rightarrow$	No	High	Insufficient	Only three long-term cohort studies with mixed results
Cognitive stimulation	$\downarrow$	No	n/a	Insufficient	Supportive evidence from case-control studies, prone to bias. Only one long- term cohort study, with high attrition and imprecise exposure measures
Lifestyle factors – la	ate life				
Smoking	$\uparrow$	Yes	Moderate	Moderate	Dose response effect for incidence of AD. Possible effect on VaD and any dementia.
Alcohol	$\rightarrow$	No	Moderate	Insufficient	Moderate drinkers have a lower risk of dementia and AD than abstainers. Unclear if this is causal or reflects confounding by reason for abstaining. Upper safe limit of 'moderate' drinking and impact of heavy drinking is unclear
Micro- and macronutrient deficiency	<i>→</i>	Yes	Moderate	Insufficient	With the exception of Mediterranean diet (one positive trial), suggestive evidence from observational cohort studies has not been confirmed in supplementation trials. However, RCTs are few in number and often of poor quality. They do not always focus on those with micronutrient deficiencies
Physical activity	$\downarrow \rightarrow$	Yes	High	Insufficient	Duration of follow-up is a major determinant of heterogeneity of effect, with inverse association seen mainly in short follow-up studies. High probability of reverse causality. RCTs needed to clarify this
Cognitive stimulation	$\downarrow$	Yes	High	Insufficient	Consistent risk reduction associated with performance of cognitively stimulating activities. Reverse causality remains to be excluded. RCTs needed to clarify this.

	Direction of Association	Sufficient number of cohort studies to draw meaningful conclusions	Consistency across studies	Evidence type (robust, moderate, insufficient)	Notes		
Cardiovascular risk	factors - midlife						
Hypertension	<b>↑</b>	Yes	High	Robust	Consistent evidence from 5 studies across four cohorts. Evidence stronger for any dementia, and VaD, than for AD.		
Obesity	$\uparrow \rightarrow$	No	Low	Insufficient	Inconsistent findings for association with midlife BMI. Problems with bias and residual confounding. Possibly more consistent association with central obesity.		
Cholesterol	$\uparrow$	No	Low	Insufficient	Inconsistent findings. Hypothesis supported mainly by two Finnish long- term cohort studies		
Diabetes	1	No	Moderate	Moderate	Evidence is somewhat indirect, from health care record linkage studies, and subject to bias. However, longer duration of diabetes is associated with higher dementia risk. Only one long-term cohort study, with no association.		
Cardiovascular risk	Cardiovascular risk factors – late life						
Hypertension	$\downarrow \rightarrow$	Yes	High	Robust	Cross-sectional studies show lower BP level in people with dementia and AD relative to controls. Decline in BP predicts the onset of dementia and AD, but this is unlikely to be causal. RCTs suggest no cognitive benefit or harm associated with the treatment of hypertension in older people in general, or those with dementia.		
Obesity	$\rightarrow$	Yes	High	Robust	Several studies. No association. However, decline in BMI from mid- to late-life predicts dementia onset but this is unlikely to be causal.		
Cholesterol	→	Yes	Moderate	Moderate	No effect of cholesterol lowering with statins on cognitive outcomes. No association of total cholesterol (TC) with incident dementia, but effects of cholesterol subfractions need to be explored further. However, decline in TC from mid- to late-life predicts dementia onset.		
Diabetes	<b>↑</b>	Yes	High	Robust	Highly consistent evidence for a strong association between diabetes and the incidence of any dementia, AD and VaD. Particularly strong effect on VaD. Possibly mediated through poor glycemic control. Mixed evidence for cognitive benefits of optimising glycemic control		

#### References

<sup>1</sup> <u>http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-</u>

professionals/Research/AgeUK\_Generation\_R\_research\_report\_June\_2014.pdf?dtrk=true

<sup>2</sup> Deary, IJ; Corley, J; Gow, AJ; Harris, SE; Houlihan, LM; Marioni, RE; Penke, L; Rafnsson, SB; Starr, JM. (2009) Age-associated cognitive decline. British Medical Bulletin, Vol. 92(1), pp.135-152

<sup>3</sup> SC IE. Dementia Gateway, <u>http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/dementia/index.asp</u>

<sup>4</sup> Deary, IJ, Yang, J, Davies, G *et al*, (2012), *Genetic contributions to stability and change in intelligence from childhood to old age*, Nature, 482: 212–215 (09 February 2012)

<sup>5</sup> Kandel, E R, Schwartz, J H, Jessell, T M, Principles of Neural Science 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, New York: McGraw Hill Medical, 2013

<sup>6</sup> Deary, IJ; Corley, J; Gow, AJ; Harris, SE; Houlihan, LM; Marioni, RE; Penke, L; Rafnsson, SB; Starr, JM. (2009) Age-associated cognitive decline. British Medical Bulletin, Vol. 92(1), pp.135-152

<sup>7</sup> Schaie, K W, Intellectual Development in Adulthood: The Seattle Longitudinal Study, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996 – reproduced in Hedden, T and Gabrieli, JDE, Insights into the Ageing Mind: a view from cognitive neuroscience, Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2004, 5:87-96

<sup>8</sup> Ahmed S1, Mitchell J, Arnold R, Dawson K, Nestor PJ, Hodges JR., (2008) *Memory complaints in mild cognitive impairment, worried well, and semantic dementia patients,* Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. Jul-Sep;22(3):227-35. <sup>9</sup> <u>www.patient.co.uk</u> Six Item Cognitive Impairment Test (6CIT)

<sup>10</sup> Alzheimer's Society, *Mild Cognitive Impairment*,

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download\_info.php?fileID=1773 downloaded 31 July 2014 <sup>11</sup> Office for National Statistics, Statistical bulletin: Annual Mid-year Population Estimates, 2013,

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-andnorthern-ireland/2013/stb---mid-2013-uk-population-estimates.html, downloaded 29 September 2014

<sup>12</sup> Alzheimer's Society factsheet

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=106

<sup>13</sup> SC IE. Dementia Gateway, <u>http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/dementia/index.asp</u>

<sup>14</sup> Tucker, A M, and Stern, Y, (2011), *Cognitive reserve in aging*, Current Alzheimer Research, 2011, June 1; 8(4): 354-360

<sup>15</sup> see for example Brayne et al, 2009, *Neuropathological correlates of dementia in over-80-year-old brain donors from the population-based Cambridge City over-75s Cohort (CC75C) study,* Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 18, 645-58, 2009

<sup>16</sup> Tucker, A M, and Stern, Y, (2011), *Cognitive reserve in aging*, Current Alzheimer Research, 2011, June 1; 8(4): 354-360

<sup>17</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London

<sup>18</sup> Rosen, A C et al, Variable effects of aging on frontal lobe contributions to memory, Neuroreport; 13: 2425-28, 2002.

<sup>19</sup> Alzheimer's Research UK, http://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/dementia-types/10000/alzheimersdisease/

<sup>20</sup> Neuropathology Group of the Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study(MRC CFAS),
 Pathological correlates of late-onset dementia in a multicentre, community-based population in England and
 Wales, The Lancet, Volume 357, Issue 9251, Pages 169 - 175, 20 January 2001
 <sup>21</sup> Alzheimer's Society, *Genetics of Dementia*,

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=168 downloaded 29 July 2014 <sup>22</sup> Some test question samples can be seen here:

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=121\_

<sup>23</sup> http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Alzheimers-disease/Pages/Diagnosis.aspx

<sup>24</sup> http://www.alz.org/aaic/releases\_2014/sun-830am-smell-eye-tests.asp

<sup>25</sup> http://www.alz.org/aaic/releases\_2014/sun-830am-smell-eye-tests.asp

<sup>26</sup> Ritchie, SJ, Tucker-Drob, EM and Deary, I (2014) Curr Biol. Aug 4, 2014; 24(15): R681–R683. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4123160/

<sup>27</sup> NAO, 2007, Improving services and support for people with dementia, London TSO http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2007/07/0607604.pdf

Dementia and Cognitive Decline Evidence Review Oct 2014

Sujata Ray and Dr Susan Davidson

<sup>28</sup> Alzheimer's Society, <u>http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/infographic</u>

<sup>29</sup> RCPsvch (2011), Report of the National Audit of Dementia Care in General Hospitals

<sup>30</sup> Prince, M et al, Dementia UK Second edition; Overview, Alzheimer's Society 2014

<sup>31</sup> SC IE. Dementia Gateway, <u>http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/dementia/index.asp</u>

<sup>32</sup> http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB14624/qual-outc-fram-rec-dem-diag-2013-2014-prov-rep.pdf downloaded 31 July 2014

<sup>33</sup> http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB14624/qual-outc-fram-rec-dem-diag-2013-2014-prov-rep.pdf downloaded 31 July 2014

<sup>34</sup> Alzheimer's Society, <u>http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/infographic</u>

<sup>35</sup> Laing and Buisson, Care of Elderly UK Market Survey 2012/13, 2013

<sup>36</sup> Hedden, T and Gabrieli, JDE, Insights into the Ageing Mind: a view from cognitive neuroscience, Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2004, 5:87-96

<sup>37</sup> http://www.nia.nih.gov/alzheimers/publication/part-2-what-happens-brain-ad/changing-brain-ad

<sup>38</sup> Kandel, E R, Schwartz, J H, Jessell, T M, Principles of Neural Science 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, New York: McGraw Hill Medical, 2013

<sup>39</sup> Alzheimer's Society, *Demography*,

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=412 accessed 5 August 2014 <sup>1</sup> Daviglus, ML, Bell CC, Berretini, W *et al* (2010), *National Institutes of Health State-of-the-Science Conference* Statement: Preventing Alzheimer Disease and Cognitive Decline, Annals of Internal Medicine, 3 August 2010; 153 (3): 176-81

<sup>41</sup> Public Health England / UK Health Forum (*Blackfriars Consensus on promoting brain health: Reducing* dementia risks in the population, 30 January 2014

http://nhfshare.heartforum.org.uk/RMAssets/Reports/Blackfriars%20consensus%20%20 V18.pdf downloaded 5 August 2014

<sup>42</sup> Public Health England / UK Health Forum (*Blackfriars Consensus on promoting brain health: Reducing* dementia risks in the population, 30 January 2014

http://nhfshare.heartforum.org.uk/RMAssets/Reports/Blackfriars%20consensus%20%20 V18.pdf downloaded 5 August 2014

<sup>43</sup> Prince et al, 2014, World Alzheimer Report 2014 – Dementia and risk reduction – an analysis of protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimers Disease International, London.

http://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2014.pdf

downloaded 23 Sept 2014

<sup>44</sup> Wotton, CJ and Goldacre, MJ, 2014, Age at obesity and association with subsequent dementia: record linkage study, Postgrad Med J Published Online First [August 20, 2014] doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2014-132571

<sup>45</sup> Matthews, FE, Arthur, A, Barnes, LE, Bond, J, Jagger, C, Robinson, L, Brayne, C, (2013), A two-decade comparison of prevalence of dementia in individuals aged 65 and older from three geographical areas of England: results of the Cognitive Function and Ageing Study I and II, Lancet, Oct 26; 382(9902): 1405-12 <sup>46 46</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of

protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London

<sup>47</sup> McCrae, R.R.; Costa, P.T.; Jr (1987). "Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 52 (1): 81–90. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81. PMID 3820081

<sup>48</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London

<sup>49</sup> Booth, T., et al, Personality, health and brain integrity: The Lothian Birth Cohort Study 1936, Health Psychology, Nov 18, 2013, No Pagination Specified

<sup>50</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London <sup>51</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of

protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London <sup>52</sup> Public Health England / UK Health Forum (*Blackfriars Consensus on promoting brain health: Reducing* 

dementia risks in the population, 30 January 2014

http://nhfshare.heartforum.org.uk/RMAssets/Reports/Blackfriars%20consensus%20%20 V18.pdf downloaded 5 August 2014

<sup>53</sup> Prince, M, et al, World Alzheimer Report 2014 (2014) – Dementia and Risk Reduction: an analysis of protective and modifiable factors, Alzheimer's Disease International, London

<sup>54</sup> Beydoun, M. A., Beydoun, H. A., Gamaldo, A. A., Teel, A., Zonderman, A. B., & Wang, Y. (2014). Epidemiologic studies of modifiable factors associated with cognition and dementia: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC public health, 14(1), 643.

<sup>55</sup> Ordovas JM (2008) Nutrition and cognitive health. In Foresight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project. Final Project Report. London: The Government Office for Science.

<sup>56</sup> Van Dyk K, Sano M (2007) The impact of nutrition on cognition in the elderly. Neurochem Res, 32, 893–904.

<sup>57</sup> Gomez-Pinilla F (2008) Brain foods: the effects of nutrients on brain function. Nat Rev Neurosci, 9, 568–578.
 <sup>58</sup> Parrott MD, Greenwood CE (2007) Dietary influences on cognitive function with aging: from high-fat diets to healthful eating. Ann NY Acad Sci, 1114, 389–397.

<sup>59</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

<sup>60</sup> Lourida, I, Soni, M, Thompson-Coon, J, Purandare, N, Lang, IA, Ukoumunne, OC, and Llewellyn, DJ (2013). Mediterranean Diet, Cognitive Function, and Dementia. Epidemiology, 2013; 24 (4): 479

<sup>61</sup> Ordovas JM (2008) Nutrition and cognitive health. In Foresight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project. Final Project Report. London: The Government Office for Science.

<sup>62</sup> http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=120

<sup>63</sup> Elwood, P, Galante, J, Pickering, J, Palmer, S, Bayer, A, Ben-Shlomo, Y, Longley, M, Gallacher, J. (2013) Healthy Lifestyles Reduce the Incidence of Chronic Diseases and Dementia: Evidence from the Caerphilly Cohort Study. PLoS ONE, 2013; 8 (12): e81877 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081877

<sup>64</sup> Ganguli, M, Vanderbilt, J, Lee, C-W, Snitz, BE, Chang, C-CH, Loewenstein, DA, And Saxton, JA (2010) Cognitive test performance predicts change in functional status at the population level: The MYHAT Project. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 16, 761–770

<sup>65</sup> Tan, JE, Hultsch, DF, and Strauss, E. (2009) Cognitive abilities and functional capacity in older adults: results from the modified scales of independent behavior – revised. The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 23: 479–500
<sup>66 66</sup> Gross, AL; Parisi, JM; Spira, AP; Kueider, AM; Ko, JY; Saczynski, JS; Samus, QM; Rebok, GW (2012) Memory

training interventions for older adults: A meta-analysis. Aging & Mental Health, Vol.16(6), p.722-734 <sup>67</sup> Martyr, A, and Clare, L. (2012) Executive Function and Activities of Daily Living in Alzheimer's Disease: A Correlational Meta-Analysis. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord, 33, 189–203

<sup>68</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178

<sup>69</sup> Elwood, P, Galante, J, Pickering, J, Palmer, S, Bayer, A, Ben-Shlomo, Y, Longley, M, Gallacher, J. (2013) Healthy Lifestyles Reduce the Incidence of Chronic Diseases and Dementia: Evidence from the Caerphilly Cohort Study. PLoS ONE, 2013; 8 (12): e81877 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081877; quote from page 6.

<sup>70</sup> Oken, B. S., D. Zajdel, S. Kishiyama et al. (2006) "Randomized, controlled, six-month trial of yoga in healthy seniors: effects on cognition and quality of life," Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 40–47.

pp. 40–47. <sup>71</sup> Ruthirakuhan, M; Luedke, AC; Tam, A; Goel, A; Kurji, A; Garcia, AG; Richard F (2012) Use of Physical and Intellectual Activities and Socialization in the Management of Cognitive Decline of Aging and in Dementia: A Review, Vol.2012, 14 pages

 <sup>72</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178
 <sup>73</sup> Prince et al, 2014, World Alzheimer Report 2014 – Dementia and risk reduction – an analysis of protective

and modifiable factors, Alzheimers Disease International, London.

http://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2014.pdf

downloaded 23 Sept 2014

<sup>74</sup> Elwood, P, Galante, J, Pickering, J, Palmer, S, Bayer, A, Ben-Shlomo, Y, Longley, M, Gallacher, J. (2013) Healthy Lifestyles Reduce the Incidence of Chronic Diseases and Dementia: Evidence from the Caerphilly Cohort Study. PLoS ONE, 2013; 8 (12): e81877 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081877

<sup>75</sup> Kvaavik E, Batty GD, Ursin G, Huxley R, Gale CR (2010) Influence of individual and combined health behaviors on total and cause-specific mortality in men and women: the United Kingdom health and lifestyle survey. Arch Intern Med 170: 711–718. 170/8/711 [pii];10.1001/archinternmed.2010.76[doi]

<sup>76</sup> Khaw KT, Wareham N, Bingham S, Welch A, Luben R, et al. (2008) Combined impact of health behaviours and mortality in men and women: the EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. PLoS Med 5: e12. 07-PLME-RA-1045[pii];10.1371/journal.pmed.0050012 [doi]

<sup>77</sup> Age Concern, 2006, *As fit as Butcher's Dogs? Healthy lifestyles and older people*, Age UK, London. <u>http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-</u>

professionals/research/as%20fit%20as%20butchers'%20dogs%20(2006) pro.pdf?dtrk=true

<sup>78</sup> Kivipelto, M, Ngandu, T, Lehtisalo, J, et al. (2014). A Multidomain Two-Year Randomized Controlled Trial to Prevent Cognitive Impairment - the FINGER study. Paper presented at the Alzheimer's Association International Conference, July 2014

<sup>79</sup> SC IE. Dementia Gateway, <u>http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/dementia/index.asp</u>

<sup>80</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

<sup>81</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178

<sup>82</sup> Oken, B. S., D. Zajdel, S. Kishiyama et al. (2006) "Randomized, controlled, six-month trial of yoga in healthy seniors: effects on cognition and quality of life," Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 40–47.

<sup>83</sup> SC IE. Dementia Gateway, <u>http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/dementia/index.asp</u>

<sup>84</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

 <sup>85</sup> Lin, JS; O'Connor, E; Rossom, RC; Perdue, LA; and Eckstrom, E. (2013) Screening for Cognitive Impairment in Older Adults: A Systematic Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med., 159, 601-612
 <sup>86</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

<sup>87</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

<sup>88</sup> <u>http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=110</u>

<sup>89</sup> Gao, Y., R. O'Caoimh, L. Healy, D. M. Kerins, J. Eustace, G. Guyatt, D. Sammon, D. W. Molloy (2013). Effects of centrally acting ACE inhibitors on the rate of cognitive decline in dementia. BMJ Open, 2013; 3 (7): e002881 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002881

<sup>90</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178

<sup>91</sup> Cooper, C, Mukadam, N, Katona, C, Lyketsos, CG, Ames, D, Rabins, P, Engedal, K, de Mendonca Lima, C, Blazer, D, Teri, L, Brodaty, H, and Livingston, G. (2012) Systematic review of the effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions to improve quality of life of people with dementia. International Psychogeriatrics (2012), 24:6, 856–870

<sup>92</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178

<sup>93</sup> Lautenschlager, N. T., K. L. Cox, L. Flicker et al. (2008) "Effect of physical activity on cognitive function in older adults at risk for Alzheimer disease: a randomized trial," Journal of the American Medical Association, vol. 300, no. 9, pp. 1027–1037.

<sup>94</sup> van Uffelen, J.G., Chinapaw, M.J., van Mechelen, W., Hopman-Rock, M., 2008. Walking or vitamin B for cognition in older adults with mild cognitive impairment? A randomised controlled trial. Brit. J. Sports Med. 42, 344–351.

<sup>95</sup> van Uffelen, J.G., Chinapaw, M.J., Hopman-Rock, M., van Mechelen, W., 2009. Feasibility and effectiveness of a walking program for community-dwelling older adults with mild cognitive impairment. J. Aging Phys. Activ. 17, 398–415.

<sup>96</sup> Lautenschlager, N.T., Cox, K.L., Flicker, L., Foster, J.K., van Bockxmeer, F.M., Xiao, J., Greenop, K.R., Almeida, O.P., 2008. Effect of physical activity on cognitive function in older adults at risk for Alzheimer disease: a randomized trial. JAMA 300, 1027–1037.

<sup>97</sup> van Uffelen, J.G., Chinapaw, M.J., van Mechelen, W., Hopman-Rock, M., 2008. Walking or vitamin B for cognition in older adults with mild cognitive impairment? A randomised controlled trial. Brit. J. Sports Med. 42, 344–351.

<sup>98</sup> Baker, L.D., Frank, L.L., Foster-Schubert, K., Green, P.S., Wilkinson, C.W., McTiernan, A., Plymate, S.R., Fishel, M.A., Watson, G.S., Cholerton, B.A., Duncan, G.E., Mehta, P.D., Craft, S., 2010. Effects of aerobic exercise on mild cognitive impairment. Arch. Neurol. 67, 71–79.

<sup>99</sup> Scherder, E.J., Van Paasschen, J., Deijen, J.B., Van Der Knokke, S., Orlebeke, J.F., Burgers, I., Devriese, P.P., Swaab, D.F., Sergeant, J.A., 2005. Physical activity and executive functions in the elderly with mild cognitive impairment. Aging Ment. Health 9 (3), 272–280.

 <sup>100</sup> Simon, SS; Yokomizo, JE; Bottino, Cássio M.C. (2012) Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.36(4), pp.1163-1178
 <sup>101</sup> Lautenschlager, N.T., Cox, K.L., Kurz, A.F., 2010. Physical activity and mild cognitive impairment and

Alzheimer's disease. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 10, 352–358, doi:10.1007/s11910-010-0121-7.

<sup>102</sup> Palleschi, L., F. Vetta, E. De Gennaro et al. (1996) "Effect of aerobic training on the cognitive performance of elderly patients with senile dementia of Alzheimer type," Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 47–50.

pp. 47–50. <sup>103</sup> Lindenmuth, G. F. and B. Moose. (1990) "Improving cognitive abilities of elderly Alzheimer's patients with intense exercise therapy," American Journal of Alzheimer's Care and Related Disorders and Research, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 31–33.

<sup>104</sup> Burns, J. M., B. B. Cronk, H. S. Anderson et al. (2008) "Cardiorespiratory fitness and brain atrophy in early Alzheimer disease," Neurology, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 210–216.

<sup>105</sup> Honea, R. A., G. P. Thomas, A. Harsha et al. (2009) "Cardiorespiratory fitness and preserved medial temporal lobe volume in Alzheimer disease," Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 188–197.

<sup>106</sup> Heyn, P., B. C. Abreu, and K. J. Ottenbacher (2004) "The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: a meta-analysis," Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, vol. 85, no. 10, pp. 1694–1704.

<sup>107</sup> Alessi, C. A., E. Yoon, J. F. Schnelle, N. R. Al-Samanai, and P. A. Cruise (1999) "A randomized trial of a combined physical activity and environmental intervention in nursing home residents: do sleep and agitation improve?" Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 784–791.

<sup>108</sup> Teri, L., L. E. Gibbons, S. M. McCurry et al. (2003) "Exercise plus behavioral management in patients with Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled trial," Journal of the American Medical Association, vol. 290, no. 15, pp. 2015–2022.

<sup>109</sup> Forbes, D, Thiessen, EJ, Blake, CM, Forbes, SC, and Forbes, S. (2013) Exercise programs for people with dementia. The Cochrane Library, December 2013 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006489.pub3

<sup>110</sup> Scherder, EJA, Bogen, T, Eggermont, LHP, Hamers, JPH, and Swaab, DF (2010) The more physical inactivity, the more agitation in dementia. International Psychogeriatrics (2010), 22:8, 1203–1208

<sup>111</sup> Potter, R, Ellard, D, Rees, K, and Thorogood, M. (2011) A systematic review of the effects of physical activity on physical functioning, quality of life and depression in older people with dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011; 26: 1000–1011

<sup>112</sup> Suvarna, A, Bak, TH, Duggirala, V, Surampudi, B, Shailaja, M, Shukla, AK, Chaudhuri, JR and Kaul, S. (2013) Bilingualism delays age at onset of dementia, independent of education and immigration status. Neurology, November 2013

<sup>113</sup> Climent María Teresa, Vilaplana Ana María, Arnedo Alberto, Vilar José, Moreno Royo Lucrecia. Estilos de vida asociados a deterioro cognitivo. Rev Invest Clin, 2013; 65(6) 500-509

<sup>114</sup> Pinquart, M, Forstmeier, S. (2012) Effects of reminiscence interventions on psychosocial outcomes: A metaanalysis. Aging & Mental Health, Vol.16(5), p.541-558

<sup>115</sup> Beard, RL. (2011) Art therapies and dementia care: A systematic review. Dementia, 11(5), 633–656

<sup>116</sup> Beard, RL. (2011) Art therapies and dementia care: A systematic review. Dementia, 11(5), 633–656

<sup>117</sup> Chancellor, B, Duncan, A, and Chatterjee, A. (2014) Art Therapy for Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, Volume 39(1), pp. 1-11, DOI 10.3233/JAD-131295

<sup>118</sup> Raglio, A, Bellelli, G, Mazzola, P, Bellandi, D, Giovagnoli, AR, Farina, E, Stramba-Badiale, M, Gentile, S, Gianelli, MV, Ubezio, MC, Zanetti, O, Trabucchi, M. (2012) Music, music therapy and dementia: A review of literature and the recommendations of the Italian Psychogeriatric Association. Maturitas, 2012, Vol.72(4), pp.305-310

pp.305-310 <sup>119</sup> Ueda, T, Suzukamo, Y, Sato, M, Izumi, S-I. (2013) Effects of music therapy on behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Research Reviews, 2013, Vol.12(2), pp.628-641

pp.628-641 <sup>120</sup> Ueda, T, Suzukamo, Y, Sato, M, Izumi, S-I. (2013) Effects of music therapy on behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Research Reviews, 2013, Vol.12(2), pp.628-641

pp.628-641 <sup>121</sup> Raglio, A, Bellelli, G, Mazzola, P, Bellandi, D, Giovagnoli, AR, Farina, E, Stramba-Badiale, M, Gentile, S, Gianelli, MV, Ubezio, MC, Zanetti, O, Trabucchi, M. (2012) Music, music therapy and dementia: A review of literature and the recommendations of the Italian Psychogeriatric Association. Maturitas, 2012, Vol.72(4), pp.305-310

<sup>122</sup> Massoud F, Belleville S, Bergman H, et al. (2007) Mild cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment, no dementia: Part B, Therapy. Alzheimers Dementia, 3, 283-291

<sup>123</sup> Black, BS, Johnston, D, Rabins, PV, Morrison, A, Lyketsos, C, Samus, QM. (2014) Unmet Needs of Community-Residing Persons with Dementia and Their Informal Caregivers: Findings from the Maximizing Independence at Home Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2013; 61 (12): 2087

 $^{124}$  Smith, S C et al, (2006), Measurement of health-related quality of life for people with dementia: development of a new instrument (DEMQOL) and an evaluation of current methodology, Health Technology Assessment, 2005, Mar 9:10;1-93 <sup>125</sup> https://www.justice.gov.uk/protecting-the-vulnerable/mental-capacity-act